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DAVID GILLILAND

BROOK HALL — THE ARBORETUM, WOODLAND
GARDEN AND WALLED GARDEN

down the River Foyle toward Culmore, Moville and Greencastle (lat. 7 17" W, long. 55" 1" N; average

rainfall of 43.3” over the past 30 years; average rainfall of 41.2" over previous 30 years; prevailing
winds from the north-west, with approximately 2 months in the Spring of easterly winds; total acreage,
approximately 30 acres). The current Regency-period house faces south-south-east and looks down over
sloping parklands to a walled garden and the fast-flowing river, along which ships sailed in the eighteenth
and nineteenth centuries carrying emigrants to the New World and returning, storms permitting, laden
with timber or grain. During the Siege of Derry in 1689, Brook Hall was used as the headquarters of the
Duke of Berwick, commander of King James” army. Contemporary maps showing the disposition of troops
during the siege identify Brook Hall by name and show the walled garden in the same location and laid out
very much as it is today.

B ROOK HALL DEMESNE is exactly two miles north of the City of Derry on the main road leading

The oldest surviving trees in the parklands and woodlands include Taxus baccata, one of which is an Ulster
champion probably dating back to the time of the siege, and reputedly with a French naval officer buried
beneath it; and Quercus robur, Castanea sativa, and Fagus sylvatica. The latter were planted between 1780 and
1800, when Brook Hall belonged to Sir George Fitzgerald Hill, Member of Parliament for the City of Derry,
who either built or rebuilt the existing house.

The demesne was purchased in 1852 by Samuel Gilliland, However, family records would suggest that he
was more interested in breeding Hereford cattle in the parklands than in tree planting. In the late 1880s,
probably to commemorate the Golden Jubilee of Queen Victoria in 1887, Samuel’s son, George Gilliland
planted a variety of exotics in the woodlands such as Sequoiadendron giganteum, Eucalyptus gunnii, Acer
platanoides, Magnolia conspicua, Magnolia acuminata, and Gingko biloba. George’s son, Frank Gilliland started
to build an arboretum in 1932 in part of the parkland on the South side of the house, between the avenue
and the river. He initially employed the late Hugh Armitage Moore of Rowallane to design the layout of the
arboretum and also to advise on planting. From the comments written by Frank Gilliland in the Brook Hall
garden journal of that period, it would appear, however, that the two men had very different and
ultimately irreconcilable ideas about developing the arboretum, and Frank Gilliland proceeded on his own
with building what he envisioned as a “collection of rare and tender plants.” His planting book records the
receipt and planting of many species. It also records many losses, mostly attributed to frost damage
(although today it appears likely that wind damage may also have played a significant part in the losses).
Although Frank Gilliland was an avid sailor and traveled extensively, most of the plants were purchased
from regional nurseries: Hillier and Sons in Winchester and Smith’s in Darley Dale in England; and several
Irish nurseries, Slieve Donard in Newcastle, Daisy Hill in Newry, Watson’s in Killiney, Dublin, and Power’s
in Waterford.

Frank Gilliland spent the last seven years of his life bedridden as the result of a stroke in 1950, but this did
not stop the arrival of more and more plants. The “temporary” plantings spilled over into the woodlands
between the arboretum and the walled garden, and when these areas were full, into the walled garden. In
1958, when I came to live at Brook Hall, there was a large and quite comprehensive collection of immature
plants including conifers as well as Acer, Betula, and Quercus and many woody shrubs such as Azaleas,
Azara, Berberis, Buddleja, Cornus, Corylopsis, Davidia, Deutzia, Drimys, Eucryphia, llex, Lomatia, Magnolia,
Osmanthus, Pieris, Prunus, Rhododendron (both species and hybrid), a considerable sufficiency of Gunnera,
and an extensive collection of Bamboos. It was also readily apparent that there were too many plants in too
small a space (in fact, in an article in the Gardener’s Chronicle in the early 1960s, Sir Islay Campbell noted
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that the garden was very much of a wilderness with some marvellous plants), and it was necessary to
consider how to ensure that the best specimens had sufficient room to develop into adults and be displayed
to best advantage within a mature arboretum,

The process of making judicious decisions about how to remove plants from where they should never have
been planted and also the re-design and continued development of the arboretum was pre-empted in 1961
when the demesne was hit by Hurricane Debbie, one of the most devastating storms in Irish history.
Arriving in September when the large trees were still in full leaf, Debbie uprooted the majority of the old
oaks, Spanish chestnuts and beech in the parklands within the space of 2 hours. With the loss of the trees in
the parkland, a large gap was then torn in the exposed main shelter belt planted by Frank Gilliland to the
west of the arboretum. This left the young arboretum in grave danger from even normal winter storms, and
so the shelterbelt was immediately re-planted with a mixture of quick-growing Pinus nigra, Tsuga
heterophylla and Larix decidua,

The 30 years after the hurricane saw a continuous period of thinning and pruning in the arboretum and
woodlands. Whenever feasible, plants which would have grown too close to their neighbours as they
became adults or that would be unlikely to grow into reasonable specimens were removed. However, some
places still remain today where thinning should have occurred but has not. For example, there is one area
of the arboretum where three very beautiful specimens are spoiling each other: an Acer griseum, an
Athrotaxus laxifolia, and a Thuya plicata ‘Zebrina’ each about 14 metres high and all growing into each other.
Two of them should have been removed many years ago to allow the third to become a fine specimen, but
it proved to be too hard a choice to make! None of this work of restoration, re-design and replanting would
have been possible without the knowledge, skill and devotion of Harry Doherty. Harry had come to Brook
Hall in 1937 to train under the then head gardener, James Gallick. He took over as head gardener and has
remained at Brook Hall ever since, completing much of the work single-handedly.

In the 1990s, when the thinning and re-design of the arboretum and woodlands were finally close to
completion, attention was turned to the walled garden. As mentioned earlier, Frank Gilliland had used the
walled garden as a temporary nursery at the end of his life and the plants now were all too old and drawn
to be able to plant out. It was decided that what should be done was to clear everything out of the garden,
and then to re-design and re-plant it. This proved to be an overly simple strategy, however, In addition to
the plants which had only been meant to be temporary occupants, there were others which had been there
much longer and were now mature trees. Some were fine specimens or were of such particular
dendrological interest that they had to remain, including Juniperus drupacea (the Syrian Juniper), huge
plants of Crinodendron hookerianum and Eucryphia x nymanensis, and a tall, graceful Fagus sylvatica Pendula’.

The walled garden slopes toward the river and covers approximately 3.5 acres. It has a wall running very
nearly from top to bottom dividing the garden into one third which originally contained glass houses, a
flower garden, croquet lawn, lily pond, and a lower area along the river laid out as a Victorian rockery; and
two thirds which had been a vegetable garden and orchard. The first section now has a central path with a
lawn on the upper side and the lily pond and the remains of the croquet lawn on the lower side. A variety
of different camellias from Seaforde, Co. Down, growing against the entrance wall or free-standing, are
now sufficiently mature to make an exciting show in the spring. The upper and central walls in this area are
planted with Ceanothus, Clematis, Fremontodendron californicums, Hibiscus syriacus, Stachyurus praecox, Telopea
truncata, Wisteria, and various creepers. At the bottom of the lower area, where the wall runs alongside the
river, there are several Bamboos: Chusquea culeou from Chile, Phyllostachys bambusoides ‘Castillonis’ and P.
nigra var henonis, and Fargesia nitida (Sinarundinaria witida) and Semiarundinaria fastuosa, which together
provide effective shelter for the lower part of this side of the garden. Immediately above the bamboos are
three mature deutzias that produce an abundance of pink, white and lilac flowers each June. Recently
planted in this area is a growing collection of kalmias that are now beginning to bear flowers, At the bottom
end of the garden, beside the bamboos, is an old, almost dry pond, which is gradually being filled with
primulas. The lily pond beside the old croquet lawn has also been cleaned out and the water lilies
replanted. The larger section of the walled garden, in which, as mentioned above, there are mature
weeping beech, Crinodendron and Eucryphia trees, had been let to the City Council for many years for use as
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a nursery supplying the city with flowers and bedding plants. The remaining space is now being used for
another growing collection, this time of Magnolia.

During the years of thinning and restoration, periodic opportunities arose to fill gaps in the arboretum and
woodland areas. In these cases, plants have been selected that would add colour, either through their
flowers or leaves, to contrast with the various greens of the conifers. Personal favourites include the scarlet
and other bright reds of the Rhododendron griersomanum hybrids such as R. ‘Tally Ho" and R. ‘Fusilier’.
Other additions have been Buddleja, Corylopsis, Eucryphia (particularly the two pink forms, E. ‘Ballerina’
and E, ‘Pink Cloud’ and for autumn colour, Euonymus, Liquidambar styracifiua, Nyssa and Parrotia.

In the early 1970s, the City Council decided to build a new sewage treatment plant at Culmore and the
main sewer pipes were laid down the middle of an old lime avenue that ran just above the walled garden,
close to the site of the original house. As a result, the soil strata were inverted and compacted, the drainage
for the whole area was very badly affected, and most of the limes died. After many years of struggling with
these adverse soil conditions, there is now in their place an avenue of Japanese cherries alternating with
Hamamelis (H. mollis on the upper side, and H. pallida on the lower side).

In addition to all the restoration and redesign work, two new areas were cleared that previously had been
covered by scrub and briars. The first was a large bank downstream of the walled garden that provided
good shade for some of the large-leafed rhododendrons such as R. basilicum and its hybrids, various
hybrids of R. auriculatum, and several fine Magnolia sieboldii subsp. sinensis plants, The brook, from which
the name of the house and demesne is derived, winds down this slope through a series of stone bridges
and small pond into the river. Slightly to the east is the major part of the Escallonia National Collection. The
other, much larger area, is upstream of the walled garden and had been a rhododendron dell that had been
allowed to fill up and become a frost pocket. In addition to clearing several acres of land running down to
the river, a second brook was built, not only to collect and control the many drains that run through the
demesne from the higher lands, but also for visual effect. The rhododendron dell has been replanted,
mainly with R. arboreum seedlings from Yunnan province in China. The remaining area is planted with
Nothofagus obligua and N. procera, together with some unusual oaks.

Particular plants of interest in the collection as it is today include Metasequoia glyptostroboides, Pinus patula
and P. montezumae, Betula albosinensis var. septentrionalis, Lagorostrobus franklinii (Dacrydium franklinii),
Nothofagus glauca, Fitzroya cupressoides, Juniperus recurva var. coxii, and two conifers which received Awards
of Merit from the Royal Horticultural Society in 1944, Abies pindrow var. intermedia and Cupressus lusitanica
‘Glauca Pendula’. Listed below are particulars of the conifer collection, which contains trees from most
parts of the world.

SOUTHERN HEMISPHERE Saxegothen (Podocarpaceae) A. delavayi (China)
CONIFERS: S. conspicua (Prince Albert’s A. grandis (Giant Fir, Western
Chile and Patagonia: Yew) North America)
Araucaria (Araucariaceae) Tasmania: A. koreana (South Korea)

A. imbricata (Chile Pine), male  Lagorostrobus (Podocarpaceae) A. mariesii (Japan)

plants only L. franklinii (formerly known A. nephrolepsis (Manchuria)
Fitzroya (Cupressaceae) as Dacrydium franklinii, Huon A. pindrow var. intermedia

F. cupressoides (Alerce) Pine) (Western Himalayas) .
Macioadehys (Pod A. procera glauca (Noble Fir)

rys (Podocarpaceae)  NORTHERN HEMISPHERE

M. tetragona CONIFERS (INCLUDING Cﬂm (C“Pl'ff“ceaadar
Pilgerodendron (Cupressaceae) CENTRAL AMERICA AND ' _m"s {lcEnes ,)

P umfemm TAIWAN): Cfdru.s (lecc;ﬂe) (Cedm, A5l‘a
Podocarpus (Podocarpaceae) Abies (Pinaceae) (Silver Firs) 2‘4 1‘1"1(:;“5::;1 :t?:sléz;t:r¢ﬁlca)

P andinws (Flum-fraited Yew) A. bracteata (Santa Lucia Fir, C. atlantica glauca (Blue Cedar)

P. salignus Southern California) ; 8 :

80 C. deodara (Western Himalayas)
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Chamaecyparis (Cupressaceae)
(False Cypresses, North
America, Japan and Taiwan)
Chamaecyparis lawsoniana
C. lawsoniana ' Columnaris’
C. lawsoniana 'Erecta’
C. lawsoniana ‘Glauca
Compacta’
C. lawsoniana 'Intertexta’
C. lawsoniaena ‘Lutea’
C. lmwsoniana ' Lutea Smithii’
C. lawsoniana
‘Lycopodioides’
C. lmpsoniana ‘Parsons’
C. lawsoniana ‘Pendula’
C. lawsoniana 'Stewartii’
C. lawsoniana 'Triomf van
Boskoop’
C. lawsoniana ‘Versicolor”
C. lawsoniana ‘Westermanii’
C. lawsoniana ‘Wisselii’

Chamaecyparis nookatensis
C. nootkatensis ‘Lutea’

Chamaecyparis obtusa
C. obtusa (Hinoki Cypress)
C. obtusa‘Aurea’
C. obtusa ‘Crippsii’
C. obtusa ‘Filicoides (Fern
Spray Cypress)
C. obtusa "Lycopodioides’
Chamaecyparis pisifera
C. pisifera intermedia
Cryptermeria (Taxodiaceae)
C. japonica (Japanese Cedar)
C. japonica “Nana’
C. japonica ‘Cristata’
Cunninghania (Taxodiaceae)
C. lanceolata (Chinese Fir)
x Cupressocyparis (Cupressaceae)
C. leylandii ‘Leighton Green’
C. leylandii 'Castlewellan
Gold’
Cupressus (Cupressaceae)
C. glabra
C. lusitanica (the Mexican
Cypress)

C. lusitanica var. benthanii
C. lusitanica 'Flagellifera’
C. Iusitanica 'Glauca Pendula’
C. lusitanica var. Fota
C. macrocarpa
C. macrocarpa "‘Donard Gold’
C. macrocarpa ‘Lutea’
C. sargentii
Gingko (Gingoaceae)
| G. biloba ( Maidenhair Tree)
- Juniperus (Cupressaceae)
] chinensis ‘Aurea’” (Chinese
Juniper)
|. contmunis
J. drupacea (Syrian Juniper)
|. excelsa
J. horizontalis ‘Glauca’

J. recurva var. coxii (Drooping

Juniper)

J. squamata chinensis glauca

[. squamata "‘Meyeri’

|. virginiana “Tripartita’
Larix (Pinaceae)

L. decidua

L. kaempferi

L. potaninii (Chinese Larch)
Metasequoia (Taxodiaceae)

M. glyptostroboides (Dawn

Redwood)
Picea (Pinaceae)

P. abies (Norway Spruce)

P. breweriana (Brewer's

Weeping Spruce)

P. jezoensis var. hondoensis

{Hondo Spruce)

P. likiangensis

P. mariana (Black Spruce)

P. omorika (Serbian Spruce)

P. orientalis (Oriental Spruce)

P. orientalis ‘ Aurea’

P. pungens “Koster’

P. sitchensis (Sitka Spruce)

Pinus (Pinaceae)
P. armandii (Armand’s Pine)
P. ayacahuite (Mexican
White Pine)
P. conlteri (Big Cone Pine)
P. koraiensis (Korean Pine)
P. nigra (Austrian Pine)
P. nigra subsp. laricio
(Corsican Pine)
P. patula (Mexico)
P. pevce (Macedonian Pine)
P. radiata (Monterey Pine)
P. sylvestris (Scots Pine)
P. sylvestris ‘ Aurea’
P. wallichiana (Bhutan Pine)
Sciadopitys (Taxodiaceae)
S. verticillata (Umbrella Pine)
Sequoia (Taxodiaceae)
S. sempervirens (Coast
Redwood)
Sequoiadendron (Taxodiaceae)
S. giganteum (Giant Redwood)
Taiwania (Taxodiaceae)
T. eryptomerioides
Taxodium (Taxodiaceae)
T. ascendans ‘Nutans’
T. distichum (Swamp Cypress)
Taxus (Taxaceae)
T. baccata (the English Yew)
T. baccata ' Adpressa Variegata®
T. baccata ‘Fastigiata’ (the
Irish Yew)
T. baccata ‘Fastigiata
Aureomarginata’
Thuja (Cupressaceae)
T. plicata (Western Red Cedar)
T. plicata *Zebrina’
T. standishii (Japanese
Arbor-vitae)
Thujopsis (Cupressaceae)
T. dolabrata (Japan)
T. dolabrata "Variegata’
T. dolabrata ' Pendula’
T. dolabrata ‘Hondae’

- Tsuga (Pinaceae)

T. heterophylla (Western
Hemlock)

T. mertensiana ‘Glauca’

Brook Hall, 65 Culmore Road, Londonderry, BT48 8]E, N. Ireland,

E-mail: Brook_hall@hotmail.com




JOHN DUCIE
CLOUGHJORDAN NURSERY PAPERS

HIS is the story of the discovery of the Hodgins Nursery Archive at Cloughjordan House in County

Tipperary, a discovery that subsequently resulted in the identification of llex x alfaclerensis

‘Lawsoniana’ as an lrish-raised cultivar and one of the earliest variegated clones, and the depositing
of the most extensive nineteenth-century nursery archive now known in the library of the National Botanic
Gardens, Glasnevin.

In 1986 Brian Sinclair of Donabate, County Dublin, husband of my sister Anne, asked me if I would like to
look at some nursery papers which he had found as a schoolboy twenty years previously. He had found
them in the attic of the medieval tower house wing of his uncle Val Baker’s house at Cloughjordan. The
papers consisted of seed lists from the 1870s together with invoices and order forms from the long defunct
Hodgins Nursery, which had operated on his uncle’s farm prior to his grandfather Samuel Baker’s
purchase of it in 1919, The papers were in good condition and had been retained as a result of pressure
from his mother and uncle when they realised that he had removed them to take the penny black and
twopenny blue stamps for his stamp collection. They urged him to retain the papers as provenance for the
stamps.

I telephoned Charles Nelson, then taxonomist at the National Botanic Gardens, Glasnevin, to tell him of the
discovery of the Cloughjordan papers. He was excited at the news, for he had recently found a letter by
William Gumbleton written in 1888 and claiming that the Golden Hodgins Holly (llex x altaclerensis
‘Lawsoniana’) had been raised at the Hodgins nursery at Cloughjordan, County Tipperary, and not in
Scotland as everyone had assumed. As no one then had any knowledge of a Cloughjordan nursery, the
claim that the plant was Irish was not considered valid and the plant was presumed to be Scottish in origin.
Here might be the proof required! It was arranged that the papers would be loaned to Charles.

Brian Sinclair’s mother Mabs Sinclair (neé Baker), who grew up in Cloughjordan, was asked what she
remembered of the nursery. She knew of the Cloughjordan holly and remembered it growing in the garden
of Cloughjordan House. She also remembered hearing about the Hodgins, who were friends of the family,
and she confirmed the existence of a large amount of archival material relating to the nursery still in the
attics of Cloughjordan House. She was able to produce correspondence on official New York Parks
Department notepaper from members of the Hodgins family to her father dating from the 1880s, as well as
old glass-slide negative photographs including a family group with William Hodgins outside the front
door of Cloughjordan House.

In the spring of 1987 | paid a visit to Cloughjordan House. The house proved to be a remarkably attractive
building, consisting of a medieval tower house, a main seventeenth-century block complete with barley
twist staircase and Venetian windows, and an early nineteenth-century (or earlier) ballroom wing. The
whole had an appearance of a French manor rather than that of the usual Irish farmhouse. Outside the
gardens were full of trees and shrubs apparently untouched since Hodgins’s day and a series of old walled
enclosures that were in the process of a rather heavy-handed restoration by a FAS scheme, The nursery
papers were confirmed to be in the attic of the medieval part of the house, Our charming hosts the late Val
Baker and his wife Sylvia filled me in on what they knew of the grounds and invited me to return.

Charles Nelson meanwhile researched the Hodgins family nurseries, publishing with Susyn Andrews in
Glasra in 1992 an account of the origin of the Golden Hodgins Holly as well as of the two other Hodgins
holly clones ilex x altaclerensis ‘Hendersonii’ and ‘Hodginsii’ that were raised at the Hodgins Nurseries at
Dunganstown, County Wicklow, ¢, 1830.
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The Hodgins papers were removed from the attic during renovations about 1990, and stored temporarily in
ten large plastic bags in the disused ballroom. When Anne Sinclair heard of this, she contacted me, and I in
turn contacted Charles Nelson, who wrote to the then gravely ill Val Baker requesting the papers for study
and conservation. The Bakers readily agreed; Val Baker died shortly afterwards. Brian and Anne Sinclair
drove to Cloughjordan and brought the papers to Glasnevin where, after fumigation, they were stored in
airtight cupboards in the old herbarium building. At this point Charles Nelson left Glasnevin. The librarian
and staff were preoccupied with the move into the new library and herbarium and no more was done with
the papers at that time.

In 1998 [ was contacted by Sarah and Peter Baker and asked to prepare a report on the archive and the
heritage importance of the grounds as they were applying for Heritage Council grant aid for a new roof for
the house and renovations to the ballroom wing. The report was prepared and they duly received a grant.
To write up the gardens of Cloughjordan House I visited and Sarah and Peter produced a plan of 1844
showing the house and nursery which they had discovered while tidying up Val Baker’s study. By
examining it and walking the farm in frosty weather a number of things became apparent. Much of the
path network was still discernible as shown on the plan of 1844. The origin of most of the plants remaining
seemed be from the Hodgins's time and there were many camellias and hollies, as well as massive yews,
incredible box plants and lots more, all in a jungle of seedling trees, brambles and ivy.

On some of the walls there were fruit trees (some kind of pear) and in the shade of evergreens there were
traces of lime wash which might have dated back to the Hodgins's time. But where in this vast and almost
impregnable jungle of plants on almost 3.7 acres of the present ‘garden” might there be a specimen of the
Golden Hodgins Holly? I collected for Matthew Jebb, the then new taxonomist at Glasnevin, samples of
extremely large and venerable hollies, attaching numbered plastic tags to the trees. Matthew sent them to
Susyn Andrews at Kew and the verdict came back: llex x altaclerensis crosses, but no sign of any particular
clone.

On a return visit Ilooked up and saw growing in a particularly large llex x altaclerensis a variegated branch
more than twenty feet from the ground. Using field glasses | could see that the variegation matched that of
Ilex x altaclerensis ‘Lawsoniana’. Could this be the original plant? Given its location in the middle of a
wilderness of other plants and seven metres from the ground, getting a specimen for verification is not a
simple matter and remains to be done. There may well be hidden riches at Cloughjordan House in the form
of ‘lost’ plant cultivars, in particular Hodgins varieties of trees and shrubs that only patient research will
uncover,

I have since sifted through the papers stored at Glasnevin, untouched since their arrival except for basic
conservation work. They consist of fifty years of the ephemera of the nursery business from 1862 to 1912, as
well as material relating to the Hodgins's role as agents to the local landlord, Lord Dunally. The nursery
papers consist of:

1 Orders to the nursery including seed lists and letters.

2 Invoices to the nursery from a variety of suppliers, including other nursery companies both in
Ireland and abroad (both British and French suppliers are represented).

3. Correspondence to the nursery from famous Irish gardens of the period such as Heywood,
Birr and Emo Court; of particular interest are letters from gardeners seeking advice and also
asking for information on new employers and grumbling about their conditions.

4 Books of account, including sales books recording sales to literally thousands of Irish gardens;
cash sales books, debtors books and wage books. The sales books show sales to as far away as
South Africa, Russia and the United States. The wage books, in addition to recording the
names of staff and the number of days worked, reveal that payment was made in sacks of
potatoes and other vegetables as well as in cash,
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The papers are in dirty condition with the outside of the books and bundles covered in a hundred years or
more of dirt. To make it possible to research them properly, cleaning and transfer to conservation covers is
required. In 2000 the estimated cost was in excess of £7500 (9500 euro). The National Botanic Gardens does
not have funds for this kind of conservation work, as its own extensive archival material must take
precedence over material relating to other sources. It is necessary, therefore, to find funding for
conservation to allow the papers to be properly researched and published.

This research when completed will cast a new light on the history of Irish gardens and in particular on
nurseries and the trade in plants in the nineteenth century. The Cloughjordan Nursery archive is unique in
that it is apparently the only Irish nursery archive to have survived. Its survival itself is something of
miracle as paper is so fragile and prone to damp, fire, and to being eaten by a variety of creatures. Its
discovery, as Charles Nelson said at the time, is a true case of serendipity.
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